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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF YORK 

 
THOMAS TAGNEY, on behalf of himself and 
all others similarly situated, 
 
                                     Plaintiff(s), 
 
 

-against- 

 
Civil Case Number: _____________ 

 
 

CIVIL ACTION 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
AND 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  
 
GROSS POLOWY, LLC; CALIBER HOME 
LOANS, and JOHN DOES 1-25, 
 
                                     Defendant(s). 

 

 
  Plaintiff, THOMAS TAGNEY, on behalf of himself and all others similarly 

situated (hereinafter “Plaintiff”) by and through his undersigned attorney, alleges against the 

above-named Defendants, GROSS POLOWY, LLC (“GROSS”); CALIBER HOME LOANS 

(“CALIBER”); and John Does 1-25, collectively (“Defendants”) their employees, agents, and 

successors the following: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 1. Plaintiff brings this action for damages and declaratory and injunctive relief 

arising from the Defendants' violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act (hereinafter “FDCPA”), which prohibits debt collectors from engaging in abusive, 

deceptive and unfair practices.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331.  This is 

an action for violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. 

 3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(2) because the acts and 

transactions that give rise to this action occurred, in substantial part, in this district. 
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DEFINITIONS 

 4. As used in reference to the FDCPA, the terms “creditor,” “communication” 

“consumer,” “debt,” and “debt collector” are defined in § 803 of the FDCPA and 15 U.S.C. § 

1692a. 

PARTIES 

5. The FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., which prohibits certain debt collection 

practices provides for the initiation of court proceedings to enjoin violations of the FDCPA and 

to secure such equitable relief as may be appropriate in each case.  

6. Plaintiff is a natural person and a resident of the State of New York, County of 

Nassau, and is a “Consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3). 

7. GROSS is a law firm with offices located at 1775 Wehire Drive, Suite 100, 

Williamsville, New York 14221. 

8. Upon information and belief, Defendant GROSS  is a law firm that uses the mail, 

telephone, and facsimile and regularly engages in business the principal purpose of which is to 

attempt to collect debts alleged to be due another. 

9.   Defendant GROSS is a “Debt Collector” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. 

§1692(a)(6)  

10. CALIBER is a foreign corporation with its principal executive office located at 

3701 Regent Blvd., Suite 200, Irving, Texas 75063. 

11. Upon information and belief, Defendant CALIBER is a company that uses the 

mail, telephone, and facsimile and regularly engages in business the principal purpose of which 

is to attempt to collect debts alleged to be due another. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

18. Plaintiff is at all times to this lawsuit, a "consumer" as that term is defined by 15 

U.S.C. §1692a(3).  

19. Sometime prior to March 20, 2013, Plaintiff allegedly incurred a financial 

obligation to J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("Chase"). 

20. The Chase obligation arose out of a transaction in which money, property, 

insurance or services, which are the subject of the transaction, are for primarily for personal, 

family or household purposes. 

21. The Chase obligation arose out a transaction which was for Plaintiff personal use 

and purpose. 

22.  The Chase obligation did not arise out of a commercial transaction. 

23. The Chase obligation did not arise out of a non-personal transaction. 

24. On or before March 20, 2013, Chase alleged that Plaintiff's account was delinquent. 

25. At some time prior to April 23, 2013, the Chase obligation was assigned to 

VERICREST FINANCIAL (“VERICREST”) for the purpose of collections.  

26. At the time VERICREST received assignment of the Chase obligation, said 

obligation was past due. 

27. At the time VERICREST received assignment of the Chase obligation, said 

obligation was in default. 

28. At some prior to July 1, 2017 the Chase obligation was assigned and/or sold to 

CALIBER. 

29. At the time CALIBER acquired the Chase obligation, such obligation was past due. 

Case 1:18-cv-03859   Document 1   Filed 07/03/18   Page 6 of 19 PageID #: 6



 - 7 - 

30. At the time CALIBER acquired the Chase obligation, such obligation was in 

default. 

31. CALIBER collects and attempts to collect debts incurred or alleged to have been 

incurred for personal, family or household purposes on behalf of creditors using the United 

States Postal Services, telephone and Internet. 

32. CALIBER is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6). 

33. On or before May 15, 2018 CALIBER placed the Chase Obligation with GROSS 

for the purpose of collection. 

34. GROSS collects and attempts to collect debts incurred or alleged to have been 

incurred for personal, family or household purposes on behalf of creditors using the United 

States Postal Services, telephone and Internet. 

35. GROSS is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6). 

36. On or about May 15, 2018, Defendant GROSS, caused to be delivered to Plaintiff 

an initial communication concerning the alleged debt. A copy of said letter is annexed hereto as 

Exhibit A, except that the undersigned attorney has, in accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 5.2 

partially redacted the financial account numbers in an effort to protect Plaintiff’s privacy. 

37. The May 15, 2018, Letter was sent or caused to be sent by persons employed by 

GROSS as a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6).  

38. The May 15, 2018, letter is a “communication” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(2). 

39. Upon receipt of the GROSS letter dated May 15, 2018, Plaintiff read said letter.  

40. GROSS contends that the alleged obligation is in default. 

41. The first page of the May 15, 2018 letter stated in part: 
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Gross Polowy, LLC represents CALIBER HOME LOANS, INC. 
regarding the payment default on the mortgage loan for the 
property located at XXXXXXXXXXX. 
 
The law firm of Gross Polowy, LLC and the attorneys whom it 
employs are debt collectors who are attempting to collect a debt.  
Any information obtained by them will be used for that purpose. 
 
 

42. The second page of the May 15, 2018 stated in part: 

If you do not notify us in writing within thirty days after receipt of 
this letter that you dispute the validity of this debt, or any portion 
thereof, the debt will be assumed by us to be valid.  

 

43. On or about June 12, 2018, Defendant GROSS, caused to be delivered to Plaintiff a 

collection letter in an attempt to collect the alleged debt. A copy of said letter is annexed hereto 

as Exhibit B, except that the undersigned attorney has, in accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 5.2 

partially redacted the financial account numbers in an effort to protect Plaintiff’s privacy. 

44. The June 12, 2018 letter was sent or caused to be sent by persons employed by 

GROSS as a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6). 

45. The June 12, 2018 letter is a “communication” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(2). 

46. Upon receipt of the GROSS letter dated June 12, 2018, Plaintiff read said letter.  

47. The June 12, 2018 letter stated in part: 

Despite this demand for payment, if any portion of this claim is 
disputed, you must notify us in writing, within 30 days, indicating 
the nature of the dispute as to the amount due or any portion 
thereof.  If we do not hear from you within 30 days, we will 
assume the debt to be valid as stated in the letter. If you indicate a 
dispute, we will provide you with the evidence concerning the 
validity of the debt.  Upon your writing request, and within the 30-
day period, we shall provide you the name and address of the 
original creditor if different from the current creditor.  In addition, 
you are entitled to an accounting of the unpaid indebtedness.  
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POLICIES AND PRACTICES COMPLAINED OF 

48. It is Defendants' policy and practice to send written collection communications, in 

the form annexed hereto as Exhibit A, and Exhibit B, which violate the FDCPA, by inter alia:  

 (a ) Failing to provide the proper notices in their initial communication with  
   the consumer pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 1692g(a) et seq.;   

 
 (b) Using false representations or deceptive means to collect or   

   attempt to the debt;   
  
49. On information and belief, Defendants sent a written communication, in the form 

annexed hereto as Exhibit A, and Exhibit B to at least 40 natural persons in the State of New 

York. 

 
COUNT I  

 
FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 15 U.S.C. §1692 

VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. §1692et seq.  

50. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 49 as if the 

same were set forth at length. 

51. Collection letters and/or notices such as those sent by Defendants, are to be 

evaluated by the objective standard of the hypothetical “least sophisticated consumer.” 

52. Section 1692g of the FDCPA states the following in relevant part:  

  (a) Notice of debt; contents 
 

Within five days after the initial communication with a consumer in 
connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, unless 
the following information is contained in the initial communication or 
the consumer has paid the debt, send the consumer a written notice 
containing-- 
 
*** 
(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after receipt 
of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the 
debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt collector; 
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(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing 
within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is 
disputed, the debt collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy 
of a judgment against the consumer and a copy of such verification or 
judgment will be mailed to the consumer by the debt collector; and 
 
(5) a statement that, upon the consumer's written request within the 
thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the consumer with the 
name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current 
creditor. 

  

53. Defendants violated 15 U.S.C 1692g(a)(3) by stating in the May 15, 2018 letter to 

Plaintiff: 

If you do not notify us in writing within thirty days after receipt of 
this letter that you dispute the validity of this debt, or any portion 
thereof, the debt will be assumed by us to be valid. [emphasis 
added]. 

 
54. Section 1692g(a)(3) of the FDCPA, does not require that Plaintiff’s dispute be in 

writing. 

55. By requiring that Plaintiff’s dispute must be in writing, in the May 15, 2018 letter, 

Defendants failed to properly provide the required Section 1692g(a)(3) notice. 

56. By requiring that Plaintiff’s dispute must be in writing, in the May 15, 2018 letter, 

Defendants failed to effectively provide notice to the least sophisticated consumer of his right 

and/or method id disputing the debt. 

57. Defendants further violated 15 U.S.C 1692g(a)(3) by stating in the June 12, 2018 

letter to Plaintiff: 

Despite this demand for payment, if any portion of this claim is 
disputed, you must notify us in writing, within 30 days, indicating 
the nature of the dispute as to the amount due or any portion 
thereof.  If we do not hear from you within 30 days, we will 
assume the debt to be valid as stated in the letter. [emphasis 
added]. 
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58. Section 1692g(a)(3) of the FDCPA, does not require that Plaintiff’s dispute be in 

writing. 

59. Section 1692g(a)(3) of the FDCPA, does not require that Plaintiff indicate the 

“nature of the dispute” as to the amount due or any portion thereof. 

60. Defendants further violated 15 U.S.C 1692g(a)(3) by stating in the June 12, 2018 

“Despite this demand for payment, if any portion of this claim is disputed, you must notify us in 

writing, within 30 days” without informing the least sophisticated consumer when the “30-days” 

commences. 

61. The least sophisticated consumer upon reading the June 12, 2018 letter would be 

confused as to whether the “30-days” runs from the date of the letter or from the date of receipt 

of the letter. 

62. The least sophisticated consumer upon reading the June 12, 2018 letter would be 

confused as to whether “30-days” is in addition to the thirty-days period as set forth in the May 

15, 2018 letter.  

63. The least sophisticated consumer upon reading the May 15, 2018 letter and the 

June 12, 2018, which are less than thirty days apart from each other, would be confused as to the 

when his dispute period begins and when it terminates.  

64. Section 1692e(10) of the FDCPA prohibits the use of any false representation or 

deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt. 

65. The least sophisticated consumer upon reading the May 15, 2018 letter and the 

June 12, 2018, which are less than thirty days apart from each other, would be confused as to the 

when his dispute period begins and when it terminates. 
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66. The least sophisticated consumer upon reading the May 15, 2018 letter and the 

June 12, 2018, which are less than thirty days apart from each other can be read to have two or 

meanings, at least one of which is inaccurate. 

67. The least sophisticated consumer upon reading the May 15, 2018 letter and the 

June 12, 2018, which are less than thirty days apart from each other would be confused as to 

whether: 

a.) The thirty-day dispute period starts upon his receipt of the May 15, 2018 
letter; or 
 

b.) The thirty-day dispute period starts “30-days” from the date of the June 12, 
2018 letter. 

 
  

68. Congress enacted the FDCPA in part to eliminate abusive debt collection 

practices by debt collectors. 

69. Plaintiff and others similarly situated have a right to free from abusive debt 

collection practices by debt collectors. 

70. Plaintiff and others similarly situated have a right to receive proper notices 

mandated by the FDCPA. 

71. Plaintiff and others similarly situated were sent letters which have the propensity 

to affect their decision-making with regard to the debt. 

72. Plaintiff and others similarly situated have suffered harm as a direct result of the 

abusive, deceptive and unfair collection practices described herein. 

73. Plaintiff and others similarly situated have suffered harm as a direct result of the 

abusive, deceptive and unfair collection practices described herein 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants as follows: 
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  (a) Declaring that this action is properly maintainable as a Class Action and 

certifying Plaintiff as Class representative and her attorneys as Class Counsel; 

  (b) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class statutory damages; 

  (c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class actual damages; 

  (d) Awarding pre-judgment interest; 

  (e) Awarding post-judgment interest. 

  (f) Awarding Plaintiff costs of this Action, including reasonable attorneys' 

fees and expenses; and 

  (g) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class such other and further relief as the Court 
may deem just and proper. 
 
 
Dated: July 3, 2018 
 
      s/ Joseph K. Jones    
      Joseph K. Jones, Esq.  
      JONES, WOLF & KAPASI, LLC 
      One Grand Central Place 
      60 East 42nd Street, 46th Floor 
      New York, New York 10165 
      (646) 459-7971 telephone 
      (646) 459-7973 facsimile 
      jkj@legaljones.com 

 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

 Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff hereby requests a 

trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

       
 
/s/ Joseph K. Jones   

      Joseph K. Jones, Esq. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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THOMAS TAGNEY, on behalf of himself and all 
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Williamsville, New York 14221 
 
 

      JONES, WOLF & KAPASI, LLC 
      One Grand Central Place 
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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